FILED

10/16/2020

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0312

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Case No.: DA 20-0312

LARRY REINLASODER,

Appellant and Plaintiff,

vs.

CITY OF COLSTRIP, Mayor John Williams, STATE OF MONTANA, Judicial Branch, Court Administrator, Does I - V.

Appellees and Defendants.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Thirteenth Judicial District Court of the State of Montana in and for the County of Yellowstone Before the Honorable Donald L. Harris Case No: DV 2016-566

APPEARANCES:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

I. ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred by granting the Court Administrator's motion to dismiss.
- 2. Whether the district court erred by granting summary judgment to the City of Colstrip.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Larry Reinlasoder's right to a fair appeal was compromised when Exhibit 272 was viewed by the Montana Supreme Court. Exhibit 272 consists of a series of photographs that were highly prejudicial to Reinlasoder's right to a fair trial. Colstrip tried time and again to introduce Exhibit 272 at trial, only for the district court to reject it. Still, Colstrip wrongfully convinced, and over Reinlasoder's vehement objection, the district court to admit Exhibit 272 as part of the district court file. The district court did so but only on the condition Exhibit 272 was sealed, remain sealed, and not viewed by anyone. Ultimately, Exhibit 272 was viewed by many, including those at the Montana Supreme Court, to Reinlasoder's prejudice. Under these circumstances, Reinlasoder filed his complaint in which he named as defendants the City of Colstrip, Mayor Williams, and the Court Administrator. The district court dismissed all parties, allowing Reinlasoder to move forward with this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter began on February 28, 2014, when Reinlasoder filed a Complaint in the Thirteenth Judicial District Court against Colstrip for a wrongful discharge. On October 29, 2014, the district court denied Colstrip's motion for summary judgment on Reinlasoder's wrongful discharge claim. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, Appendix, pp. 136-137).

The district court set the trial for May 5, 2015. On the eve of the trial, with the time for filing motions in limine expired, Colstrip included Exhibit 272 as one of its exhibits, spurring the following email exchange between counsel.

William A. D'Alton <bill@daltonlawpc.com> To: Mike J Lilly <mikelilly@berglawfirm.com> Cc: Suzanne Damjanovich <suzie@daltonlawpc.com> Sun, May 3, 2015 at 8:35 PM

Mike, I do object because I do not believe the documents should be filed at all.

William A. D'Alton bill@daltonlawpc.com P.O. Box 702 Billings, Montana 59103 406.245.6643

On May 2, 2015, at 8:54 AM, Mike J Lilly <mikelilly@berglawfirm.com> wrote:

Before you file a complaint with the Commission on Practice, you should get your facts straight:

1) Our exhibits were not sent to the Court. They are sitting in Bridget's office. If there is a cover letter indicating they were sent to the Court , it is in error.

2) Bridget was in Billings all day Wednesday and Thursday. I was in Billings and Colstrip all day Wednesday and in Colstrip all day Thursday. We had instructed our staff to get color photos of the pictures that were attached to the US Forensics report and put them in the exhibit notebooks. Somehow they got the all the photo you and I are now viewing. I won't know how they got them until Monday.

3) Bridget and I did not see the photos until we saw your brief and then looked at the notebooks.

4) Bridget, our staff person, Fisher Court reporting, our computer consultant and me are the only ones who have seen or even know these photos exist. I have not shared the discovery of these photos with the Mayor, Gary Ryder or Cory Hert.

5) Cory Hert is not my client. He is an employee of my client.

I will remove these photos from the exhibit books. I will leave the photos that were attached to the report in the books. I will move the court to file the disputed photos under seal. I assume you will not oppose that motion. I will then prepare and file my response to your brief. The court can then decide if the photos are relevant in light of your client's testimony in his federal court affidavit in which he states "I never sent or transmitted pornographic material" and federal court deposition where he states "I never looked at pornography on my computer."

I take my ethical obligations very seriously. I do not believe I have or am about to violate them. I have an obligation to vigorously represent my client's interests. I cannot and will not allow accusations of professional misconduct deter me from doing my duty.

William A. D'Alton <bill@daltonlawpc.com> To: Mike J Lilly <mikelilly@berglawfirm.com> Cc: Suzanne Damjanovich <suzie@daltonlawpc.com> Mon, May 4, 2015 at 1:21 PM

Well, if we get into this at trial, I want to voir dire your expert before the judge and outside of the jury. There could be five emails containing these pictures and that is it. I also want to ask him if he examined Mr. Hert's computers for response email, and if not, why not.

William A. D'Alton bill@daltonlawpc.com P.O. Box 702 Billings, Montana 59103 406.245.6643

On May 4, 2015, at 1:18 PM, Mike J Lilly <mikelilly@berglawfirm.com> wrote:

Bill:

I had a chance to talk to my staff and expert and now understand how these events unfolded. We sent you a disc on October 13, 2013 (COL 2716) We kept a copy. I asked my staff last week to print a copy of the pictures on it for our attachment to the Requests for Admission, thinking all that was on it were 2009 photos. All the photos the expert had recovered were on the disc. None of our computers could read the disc, so my staff asked our expert for a new copy. He sent an electronic one. My staff printed the photos from the electronic file and put them in the exhibit books. They sent a book to you, but not the court or our client. I did't know what pictures were printed until I looked in the Exhibit Book after seeing your brief late Friday afternoon.

I asked the expert why some were dated and others were not. He said many emails contained more than one photo. The first text sets out the date and then all the emails attached to it follow and a new date is not shown until a new email is identified.

I hope this explains the situation to your satisfaction.

In response to the unexpected disclosure, Reinlasoder filed a motion *in limine* in which he pointed out that Exhibit 272 was generated by Colstrip's forensic company, US Forensic, about a year and a half after Colstrip wrongfully terminated Reinlasoder. The documents were not considered by Colstrip as its reason to discharge Reinlasoder. Therefore, Exhibit 272, had no relevance and its only purpose was to create prejudice. Moreover, according to the US Forensic report, the emails and attachments were from 2005, or about seven years prior to Reinlasoder's termination, making the documents too remote in time. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, Appendix, pp. 137-138).

Due to foundation problems, Colstrip could not introduce Exhibit 272 at trial. Nonetheless, while prevented from submitting Exhibit 272 to the jury, Colstrip's counsel submitted a motion to file the documents under seal under the premise that Colstrip's counsel was preparing his defense to a possible professional misconduct complaint. The logic as to why Exhibit 272 needed filing in the docket to ward off a complaint is inexplicable. The following details what happened on the morning of the first day of trial regarding Exhibit 272:

- Court: So you want them as part of the record in case this case goes to the Montana Supreme Court, just to be able to have the full picture? Are you thinking that the jury would look at would they be an exhibit that would go to the jury?
- M.Lilly. No (sic) necessarily. I had not planned on offering them, but then the motion was filed, and the Court was advised that these photos were there and that they were going to impugn Mr. Hert and that he was sending some of them, and those are not true statements and I want to be able to have a record in place so that that doesn't stand alone, because it sounds like, from the motion, I'm going to be taken before the Commission on Practice, and so I would like to have the Court review them.

B. D'Alton He's not going to be taken before the Commission on Practice. This is the chronology: I get their exhibits Friday, last Friday, a bunch of exhibits. I look at them and I find a bundle of photos. Some are of nude women, and I then am wondering what's going on with this exhibit. And I recently have reviewed a disciplinary case where things were filed to embarrass, to put pressure on another side, and that attorney was sanctioned for that. I could see absolutely no relevance for these photos in this case. Absolutely none - I made that call. There was just no relevance. So what is the purpose of filing these photos? As far as I could see, the closest date on any of these documents was 2005. And so I then said, well, there may be an issue with Professional Conduct 4.2 or 4.4, where an attorney files things. Mike was gone; he was interviewing in Colstrip. I quickly filed the motion to raise the issue, why are we doing this? Why are we filing things like this? Then Mike sent me an email explaining, well, his assistant, his secretary or legal assistants had done that he didn't know about it. (Emphasis Added). I believe him. I believe him that he didn't know about it but I'm still wondering why wasn't there some supervision over those exhibits before they went out. Well, they're out of the office, I understand, I'm busy too, as an attorney. So he did explain that to me, but then I'm still wondering why are these being made part of the record. They don't need to be made part of the record. (Emphasis Added) I suppose if we get into issues going back to 2005, although I am flabbergasted how we would get there, that they could come and say, well, we've got these photos. But my question to Mike was, how are you going to get them in? Where's - these are an expert forensic computer guy. Where is he? You've got to put him on the stand. There's no foundation for these photos and then I get an email well the pictures were part of a greater email. There might have been, I don't know, five pictures, ten pictures. We don't even know how many emails are here. There might be five; there might be ten. And so, I told Mike, if the Court is going to consider this, then I get to voir dire your expert. What is going on here - what is going on. So I want him on the stand. I told Mike, I want you to have your expert here before the Judge to allow me to voir dire outside the jury so the Judge can hear this. That's been my position.

- B. D'Alton: To lay the foundation, where did these come from; did you review his computer; why are they this way; why aren't dates on most of these; all sort of questions on foundation.
- M. Lilly: I think we should point out, Bill's had these photos since December of 2013, and he did not depose my expert.
- B. D'Alton That still doesn't allow it admissible at trial.
- M. Lilly: I don't suggest that it does, but it's not –
- COURT: Well, obviously, the foundation, if Mr. Lilly decides they're going to be an exhibit, the foundation is going to have to be laid, and if you don't think the foundation is laid, of course, you're going to have a chance to voir dire the expert. I'm not going to promise you you'll do it outside the presence of the jury, because that's an unusual practice, but you know, maybe in this case it would be appropriate. We'll deal with that when and if we get there.
- B.D'Alton: All right, thank you, Judge.
- COURT: ALL RIGHT -

. . .

- M. LILLY: I could bring a written order for that if that would –
- COURT: Sure. So Lorae, just to be clear, the Exhibits are filed under seal and these are the exhibits. They're not going to go to the jury; it's must more of a I guess you'd call it a Court Exhibit.
- CLERK: Is it just these, or all of the exhibits?
- COURT: Just those. So that would be under seal, and I'll sign the order.
- B. D'Alton What Exhibit number is that?
- M. Lilly: 272 I think I don't have my book, I'm sorry. I have to tell you when we get out there. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, Appendix, pp. 138-141).

The district court rejected Exhibit 272's admission at trial. The district court

found Exhibit 272 "marginally relevant" and its "minimal probative value" was

outweighed by "unfair prejudice." Even though the district court rejected Exhibit

272, it was part of the record that eventually went to the Montana Supreme Court, albeit under the guarantee to Reinlasoder it was to remain sealed. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix, p. 141).

From May 5, 2015, to May 8, 2015, the parties tried the wrongful discharge action. After overwhelming evidence against Colstrip, the Jury rendered a verdict (11-1) to Larry. The Jury awarded Larry \$300,000.00 (11-1). On May 14, 2015, (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, App. p.).

Clearly, Colstrip was "shocked" that Exhibit 272 did not make it to the jury. Exhibit 272 was its defense. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, Appendix, p. 141). Ms. Shantz, one of Colstrip's attorneys, wrote the following thirteen days before Colstrip filed its appellate brief. (Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Summary Judgment, Appendix, p. 142).

From: Hanna Schantz [mailto:hannaschantzlaw@gmail.com] Sent: Friday, January 08, 2016 4:45 PM To: Gary Ryder <<u>gryder@rangeweb.net</u>> Subject: Comments on the Brief

Hey Gary,

I thought the Brief was very good. I really liked getting to read about the trial and see a nice, step by step timeline of all the problems Colstrip had with Reinlasoder. I'm particularly in shock over that Judge Fagg allowed the punitive damages instruction and the special verdict form, but disallowing the computer porn pictures and Sather report. Completely baffles me!

One thing I noticed is that the Statement of Facts does not mention Reinlasoder's untruthfulness on his initial job application regarding his employment in Billings, nor does the fact statement mention anything about how he left the Billings job. - but maybe that's intentionally left out because that was not why Mayor Hanser terminated him, not sure. Just thought I'd mention it. After Colstrip filed its notice of appeal, the district court clerk sent the entire file to the Montana Supreme Court Clerk, including Exhibit 272, which should have remained sealed. Pictures were taken of Exhibit 272 while in the possession of the Montana Supreme Court and after the Court issued its opinion in *Reinlasoder v. City of Colstrip*, 2016 MT 175, 384 Mont. 143, 376 P.3d 110. Abundantly clear from the pictures of Exhibit 272 taken while the Exhibit was in the Clerk of Montana Supreme Court's possession, the pictures were viewed so many times that the envelope was ripped and tattered. (Affidavit in Support of Reinlasoder's Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix, pp. 73-103).

Here is the "sealed" Exhibit 272 in the possession of the Montana Supreme Court:



(Affidavit in Support of Reinlasoder's Brief in Opposition to Colstrip's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix p. 78).

Therefore, on May 18, 2018, Reinlasoder filed his Third Amended Complaint. In the Third Amended Complaint Reinlasoder named the City of Colstrip, Mayor John Williams, and the State of Montana Judicial Branch, Office of Court Administrator as defendants. Reinlasoder filed negligence and due process claims against the Court Administrator, Mayor John Williams, the City of Colstrip and an abuse of process claim against Mayor John Williams and the City of Colstrip. (Third Amended Complaint, Appendix, pp. 154-160).

On April 19, 2019, the district court dismissed the State of Montana Judicial Branch, Office of Court Administrator as a party. The district court held the Montana Supreme Court enjoyed immunity. (April 19, 2019, Order, Appendix, pp. 24-29). The district court, on May 9, 2019, dismissed John Williams as a party. On May 20, 2020, the district court dismissed the City of Colstrip. (May 20, 2020, Order Granting Colstrip's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix, pp. 11-23).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Standard of Review for Motion to Dismiss

A district court's rulings on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1) or (6), M.R.Civ.P., are reviewed *de novo*.¹ The rulings are granted as conclusions of law and therefore reviewed *de novo* for correctness. *Stowe v. Big Sky Vacation Rentals,*

¹The Court Administrator did not identify which subpart of 12(b) the Court Administrator's motion was made. Instead, the Court Administrator's position was the Motion to Dismiss was made under the judicial immunity doctrine.

Inc., 2019 MT 288, ¶ 12, 398 Mont. 91, 454 P.3d 655 (2019).

A complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), M.R.Civ.P., has the effect of admitting all well-pleaded allegations in the complaint. In considering the motion, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and all allegations off act contained therein are taken as true. Pursuant to this standard of review, the Montana Supreme Court will affirm a district court's dismissal only if it is "determine[d] that plaintiff is not entitled to relief under any set of facts which could be proven in support of the claim." *Powell v. Salvation Army*, 287 Mont. 99, 102, 951 P.2d 1352, 1354-1355 (1997)

B. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment

A district court's summary judgment ruling is reviewed *de novo*. This Court applies the same Rule 56, M.R.Civ.P. criteria as the district court. The Montana Supreme Court determines whether the moving party has established both the absence of any genuine issues of material fact and the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Court reviews a district court's conclusions of law for correctness. *The Estate of Willson v. Addison*, 2011 MT 179, ¶ 11, 361 Mont. 269, 258 P.3d 410.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The district court erred when it granted the Court Administrator's motion to dismiss as well as Colstrip's motion for summary judgment on the grounds of judicial immunity.

The Montana Supreme Court did not have the jurisdiction to review documents which were not part of the record on appeal. By reviewing and considering sealed documents, these acts denied Reinlasoder a right to a fair appeal.

ARGUMENT

The district court granted the Court Administrator's motion to dismiss and

Colstrip's motion for summary judgment for three reasons.

- 1. The Montana Supreme Court was protected by judicial immunity.
- 2. With judicial immunity protecting the Montana Supreme Court, Reinlasoder could never not discover the issues in the case
- 3. The opinion in *Reinlasoder v. City of Colstrip*, 2016 MT 175, 384 Mont. 143, 376 P.3d 110 stands alone, regardless that the Court reviewed Exhibit 272.

A. The issue of judicial immunity.

When the district court granted judicial immunity to the Court Administrator, Reinlasoder was effectively prevented from moving forward with discovery. Therefore, Reinlasoder requests this Court reverse the district court order on judicial immunity, allowing Reinlasoder to move forward with discovery in this matter.

For the purposes of reviewing a motion to dismiss, the following allegations in the Third Amended Complaint were admitted:

- 7. In May 2012, Colstrip terminated Larry's employment.
- 8. Larry filed suit in Federal Court and then filed suit in State Court.
- 9. Just prior to the trial, Colstrip submitted photographs that were

part of an expert report.

- 10. Colstrip commissioned the forensic analysis after Larry was terminated.
- 11. The forensic company, US Forensics, issued its report in December 2013.
- 12. On the eve of trial, Colstrip submitted the photos as Exhibit 272.
- 13. Colstrip did not list anyone from US Forensics as an expert to be called at the trial.
- 14. Colstrip did not call anyone from US Forensics to lay the proper foundation for the Exhibit 272.
- 15. Still, Colstrip was insistent that Exhibit 272 be made part of the record.
- 16. On numerous occasions Colstrip tried to get the photos into evidence although the Rules of Evidence clearly prohibited the evidence.
- 17. The Court refused to allow Exhibit 272 into evidence. The Court also ordered Exhibit 272 sealed.
- 18. After Colstrip appealed the jury's verdict, the file was sent up to the Montana Supreme Court.
- 19. The district court never issued an order to unseal Exhibit 272 or allow it to be admitted into evidence.
- 20. The envelope containing 272 was not opened by anyone at the district court level.
- 21. The envelope containing the photos (Exhibit 272) was opened many times at the Montana Supreme Court.
- 22. The envelope that had Exhibit 272 in it was opened so many times that the envelope was ripped and tattered.
- 23. When reviewed and photographed at the Montana Supreme Court the envelope containing Exhibit 272 was not even sealed.
- 24. Once the boxes go upstairs to the Justices' office, the Montana Supreme Court Clerk's office no longer has control over the files.

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