IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
Supreme Court Case No. DA 20-0312

LARRY REINLASODER,
Plaintiff /Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF COLSTRIP, Mayor John Williams, STATE OF MONTANA, Judicial
Branch, Court Administrator, Does I-V,
Defendants/Appellees.

Appeal from the Thirteenth Judicial District Court
of the State of Montana in and for the County of Yellowstone
Before the Honorable Donald L. Harris
Case No. DV 2016-566

APPELLEE CITY OF COLSTRIP'S RESPONSE BRIEF

William A. D'Alton
D'Alton Law Firm, P.C.
3970 Avenue D, Suite C
Billings, MT 59102
(406) 245-6643
bill@daltonlawpc.com

Attorney Plaintiff/Appellant

Harlan B. Krogh
Crist, Krogh, Alke & Nord, PLLC

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's overall theory under each of his liability claims against all of the appellees is premised on the flawed belief that the Montana Supreme Court cannot review documents within the district court record that are filed under seal. The Supreme Court has often demonstrated its authority to access and review documents sealed by district courts. Since Reinlasoder's misguided understanding of the law and the Supreme Court's inherent power on appeals is incorrect, it follows that his arguments against each of the Defendants/Appellees also fail to conform with Montana law.

The District Court correctly determined that Colstrip was entitled to summary judgment on all of Reinlasoder's claims pled. As to the negligence claim, the District Court correctly determined that Reinlasoder could not prove

causation. There is absolutely no evidence in the record that the Supreme Court relied upon Exhibit 272. The decision does not reference the exhibit at all. In addition, Reinlasoder cannot show that Colstrip owed Reinlasoder a legal duty as to what trial exhibits it would present in defense at trial. A party in litigation does not owe a duty to his adversary regarding the evidence presented at trial. On the abuse of process claim, the District Court correctly determined that Reinlasoder could not prove either of the two essential elements of the claim – the receipt by Reinlasoder of an unfavorable appellate decision in Reinlasoder I could not be the basis for an abuse of process claim. Lastly, on malice, the District Court correctly determined that his cause of action was actually for punitive damages for which Colstrip is immune by statute. Furthermore, there was absolutely no evidence of malice in the record.

Reinlasoder's present action is, in essence, an attempt to re-litigate Reinlasoder I and to sue those parties he believes were to blame for his unsuccessful appeal. The District Court realized this and correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Colstrip.

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Reinlasoder Presents No Substantive Arguments Opposing the Summary Judgment Order in Favor of Colstrip.

Reinlasoder basically argues only one issue on appeal: judicial immunity. His sole contention is that he should be entitled to conduct discovery against the

Administrator to identify what individuals at the Supreme Court may have opened the sealed envelope containing Exhibit 272. Aside from this issue, his entire brief is devoid of any analysis of the issues in the Summary Judgment Order relating to Colstrip. For this reason alone, the Court should reject Reinlasoder's appeal because the rules of this Court require Reinlasoder's brief to "contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons therefor, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and pages of the record relied on...." *See* Rule 12(1)(g), M.R.App.P. "It is not this Court's obligation to guess a party's precise position or to develop legal analysis that may support that position." *Harland v. Anderson Ranch Co.*, 2004 MT 132, ¶ 33, 321 Mont. 338, 92 P.3d 1160. When an appellant fails to present a cogent argument on an appeal, the Court should "decline to address the merits of this argument on appeal." *Id.*

Reinlasoder's brief focuses on judicial immunity but that is not the basis for the Summary Judgment Order. Rather, the Summary Judgment Order determined that Reinlasoder could not prevail because: a) he could not prove causation on his negligence claim; b) he provided only speculative evidence on his abuse of process claim; and, c) Colstrip was immune from punitive damages. (SJ Order at pp. 6-12) Reinlasoder fails to discuss any of these issues directly on appeal. Instead, he focuses solely on judicial immunity and his frustration in attempting to conduct discovery against the Administrator regarding Exhibit 272. These arguments do not

pertain to Colstrip but solely to the Administrator. As for the issues involving Colstrip, Reinlasoder only obliquely references them and provides no legal authority setting forth his position that the District Court erred in its decision.

Neither Colstrip nor the Court is obligated to develop the legal analysis for Reinlasoder on the negligence, abuse of process, or punitive damages issues.

McCulley v. American Land Title Co., 2013 MT 89, ¶ 20, 369 Mont. 433, 300 P.3d 679 (citations omitted); *see also* Snow v. Snow, 2002 MT 143, 310 Mont. 260, 49 P.3d 610 (Court refused to consider appeal where appellant listed six issues in his brief on appeal, but only argued one which was unintelligible and created a disadvantage for appellee by not setting forth a clear statement of what appellant was attempting to argue and what appellee needed to address in her response brief). Since Reinlasoder failed to sufficiently address the appropriate issues in his opening brief, the SJ Order should be affirmed.

B. The District Court Correctly Determined That Colstrip Was Entitled to Summary Judgment.

Even though Reinlasoder has not complied with Rule 12(1)(g), M.R.App.P., Colstrip will address each of the issues raised on summary judgment in ensure that the District Court reached the correct decision.

1. **Appellant's fundamental basis supporting his claims is contrary to the law.**

The true nature of this present litigation is to serve Reinlasoder's desire to relitigate the prior case of Reinlasoder vs. City of Colstrip, 2016 MT 175, 384 Mont. 143, 376 P.3d 100 (Reinlasoder I), in hopes of obtaining a different result before this Court. The core arguments advanced by Reinlasoder are directed at the Montana Supreme Court but unfortunately include Colstrip since Colstrip was the named party in the previous litigation. One of Appellant's fundamental problems is his irrational belief that a document filed under seal by the district court is not among the records contained within the court's record. Appellant is so zealous in his belief that he believes Judge Fagg "guaranteed" him that it would not be seen by anyone. A sealed document is sealed from the public's view yet Appellant chooses to disregard this common understanding. In fact, Appellant goes so far as to argue that once a document is sealed, no one, including the trial judge, their staff or even the Montana supreme court can view the document. This strained view of the effect of a sealed document unfortunately is not the law.

Appellant's flawed belief that the Montana Supreme Court cannot review a document which was filed under seal forms the basis of each of his legal claims. Appellant's faulty premise is rebutted by an abundance of legal authority to the contrary. The District Court correctly rejected Appellant's confused and mistaken beliefs as to the outcome of a sealed document within the Court's record. There are

several examples where the Supreme Court has shown its authority to review sealed documents. See State v. Weisbarth, 2016 MT 214, ¶ 32, 384 Mont. 424, 378 P.3d 1195 (the Court accessed documents sealed by the trial court and discussed the contents of those documents at length); State v. Stutzman, 2017 MT 169, ¶ 30, 388 Mont. 133, 398 P.3d 265 (the Court conducted a complete review of the documents that were sealed by the lower court); State ex rel. Great Falls Tribune Co. Inc. v. Mont. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 238 Mont. 310, 777 P.2d 345 (1984).

2. Reinlasoder Could Not Prove the Essential Elements of Negligence.

a. Reinlasoder Could Not Prove that Colstrip Caused His Damages.

Summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases where the plaintiff fails to establish any of the four necessary elements: duty, breach, causation, and damages. See generally Dulaney v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Ins. Co., 2014 MT 127, 324 P.3d 1211, 375 Mont. 117 (duty); Dubiel v. Montana Dept. of Transp., 2012 MT 35, 364 Mont. 175, 272 P.3d 66 (duty and breach); Estate of Willson v. Addison, 2011 MT 179, 361 Mont. 269, 258 P.3d 410 (causation). As to causation, Reinlasoder provided only speculative conjecture to the District Court that Colstrip caused his alleged damages. Where plaintiff cannot prove causation, plaintiff cannot prevail under negligence. Estate of Willson, ¶ 21.

The District Court correctly concluded that there is absolutely no evidence in the record that the contents of trial Exhibit 272 had any impact on the Supreme Court's decision in Reinlasoder I. The District Court correctly noted, "The decision issued by the Supreme Court does not reference either the photographs or the exhibit itself." (Appellee App. at 7, Summary Judgment Order, p. 8). The District Court properly noted that ". . . the Court found the district court erred when it failed to grant judgment as a matter of law because the evidence at trial showed that Reinlasoder. . . sexually harassed a dispatcher." (Page 8 Order granting Summary Judgment). The District Court in granting Colstrip summary judgment found:

Taken further, even making the extreme conclusory and speculative leap that the Court viewed Exhibit 272, was offended by its contents, and as a direct result, chose to find a different, more neutral reason to rule against Reinlasoder in the appeal, these "facts" can never be proven. The speculation about its consideration is just that. Speculation. And importantly, it does not change the outcome of the dispositive decision it rendered on an entirely different legal basis. (Id.)

The District Court's conclusion was correct. The Supreme Court's opinion in Reinlasoder I reversing District Judge Russell Fagg and entering judgment in favor of Colstrip was completely devoid of any mention of Exhibit 272 or its contents. Instead, the Supreme Court's opinion clearly describes the examples of Reinlasoder's conduct in the record that supported his termination from employment and the reversal of the jury verdict:

- A December 2007 email, with a picture of Santa Claus that said, “[y]ou ain’t getting s—for Christmas! I’ve just examined your computer and it’s full of porn, you f---- pervert;”
- A September 2009 email with “pornographic pictures of men and women in various stages of sexual intercourse;”
- Lying about his work history in his job application;
- An accusation of criminal mischief by the Rosebud County Sheriff’s office;
- Insubordinate conduct;
- Intimidating a female dispatcher to the point that she “no longer [felt] comfortable in dispatch without someone else being present; and
- Sexual harassment of a female dispatcher.

Reinlasoder I, ¶¶ 3-4. This Court also found that Reinlasoder himself presented evidence that he approached a Colstrip dispatcher and stated “[d]o you want to come see porn in my office?” and “[Y]ou look like a freaky kind of girl that would like porn.” *Id.* at ¶ 5. Perplexingly, Reinlasoder introduced additional evidence at trial corroborating these statements. *Id.* at ¶¶ 6-7.

Reinlasoder has always failed to acknowledge the above described evidence was the basis of the Supreme Court’s decision. Instead, he chooses to believe his own unsupported and contrived theory, involving speculation and conjecture as to why his wrongful discharge appeal turned out the way it did. The undisputed facts, however, do not support his suspicious, absurd claims and there is simply no

credible evidence that Exhibit 272 had any influence on the Supreme Court's decision. As such, the District Court was correct in determining that Reinlasoder failed to raise a genuine issue on the matter of causation. Without causation, Reinlasoder's negligence claim fails as a matter of law.

b. The City of Colstrip Owed No Duty to Reinlasoder.

Although the District Court did not need to address the issue of duty because it found the analysis of the causation element determinative, it is important nonetheless to discuss this element on appeal since the Supreme Court can affirm the District Court for a reason other than those set forth in the Summary Judgment Order. Montana Democratic Party v. State by and through Stapleton, 2020 MT 244, ¶ 6, ___ P.3d ___, 2020 WL 5651613 (citation omitted).

“[T]he existence of a legal duty can be determined as a matter of law.” Eklund v. Trost, 2006 MT 333, ¶19, 335 Mont. 112, 151 P.3d 870 (citation omitted); Lopez v. Great Falls Pre-Release Servs., 1999 MT 199, ¶ 31, 295 Mont. 416, 986 P.2d 1081. It is a question for the court rather than the jury. Slack v. The Landmark Co., 2011 MT 292, ¶ 17, 362 Mont. 514, 267 P.3d 6 (citations omitted). “If there is no duty, there is no negligence.” *Id.*; Sikorski v. Johnson, 2006 MT 228, ¶ 13, 333 Mont. 434, 143 P.3d 161 (“Absent a duty, breach of duty cannot be established and the negligence action cannot be maintained”).

Reinlasoder's *Third Amended Complaint* asserts that Colstrip was negligent in presenting Exhibit 272 for trial. (Appellee App. at 3, *Third Amended Complaint*, ¶¶ 35-36) Yet, from the undisputed facts of the case presented to the District Court, Reinlasoder asserted that any wrongful conduct that occurred in opening the envelope containing Exhibit 272 occurred at the Supreme Court and not at the hands of Colstrip. For this reason alone, he failed to show any duty owed by Colstrip.

Reinlasoder also completely failed to provide any statutory or case law authority to the District Court that would recognize a legal duty on the part of Colstrip. In other words, there is no duty of law running from Colstrip to an adverse party, like Reinlasoder, with respect to how Colstrip must present its trial exhibits in defending itself against accusations of wrongful discharge. To the extent any duties existed in the trial court arena, they did not run in favor of Reinlasoder. Certainly, Colstrip's trial attorney owed his client a duty of loyalty and a duty to be a devoted advocate within the ethical and professional rules of conduct. Colstrip's trial counsel was an officer of the Court. He also had specific duties in the administration of justice (to be candid, forthcoming and honest in his arguments and in the presentation of evidence). These ethical duties, however, do not create an independent basis for legal action. Lucas v. Stevenson, 2013 MT 15, ¶ 23, 368 Mont. 269, 294 P.3d 377 (citation omitted); Byers v. Cummings, 2004

MT 69, ¶ 31, 320 Mont. 339, 87 P.3d 465 (citations omitted). Beyond the general duties owed to the Court, neither Colstrip nor its trial counsel had any legal duty to limit the use of any evidence available to defend against the accusations of wrongful discharge.

Reinlasoder's *Third Amended Complaint* against Colstrip arising from a previous lawsuit presents even a broader concern. The concept that one party attempts to sue a former opponent or an opponent's attorney for what occurred at trial has been rejected by the courts; activities that occur within the parameters of prior litigation cannot be the basis for subsequent litigation. *See generally*, Spreadbury v. Bitterroot Public Library, 2011 WL 4499030 (D.Mont. 2011) (collecting cases); Taylor v. McNichols, 243 P.3d 642 (Idaho 2010) (collecting cases). This rule is sometimes referred to as the "litigation privilege" or the "judicial proceedings privilege." Although sometimes limited by the jurisdiction, the "judicial proceedings privilege is typically applied to counsel, parties and witnesses." Landry's, Inc. v. Animal Legal Defense Fund, 566 S.W.3d 41, 57-58 (Tex.App.Ct. 2018) (citations omitted). These privileges are designed to immunize a party "in a judicial proceeding and is fundamental to the courts' truth-finding mission." O'Brien & Gere Engineers, Inc. v. City of Salisbury, 135 A.3d 473, 476 (Md. 2016). The Court in O'Brien looked at the history of the litigation privilege, specifically, and noted that:

The litigation privilege dates back 500 years to the English Court of Queen's Bench. *See Beauchamps v. Croft*, 73 Eng. Rep. 639 (Q.B. 1497) (“[N]o punishment was ever appointed for a suit in law, however it be false and for vexation. And in the case above, it is indifferent to say that it is false or true[.]”). The privilege rests on the vital public policy of the “free and unfettered administration of justice.”

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